

# Part 1 - Summary and Explanation

## 1.0 — The Council's Constitution

~~The Thanet District Council first~~has agreed a new constitution ~~as required by the Local Government Act 2000 in 2002. The first comprehensive review of that document was undertaken in early 2004 as a result of which the Council agreed this revised Constitution on 6 May 2004. A number of changes were made as a result of decisions of Council in 2005 and 2006.~~ It which sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose. ~~The Council will continue to monitor the operation of this revised Constitution and may from time to time make further changes.~~

~~The Constitution is divided into 16 articles which set out the basic rules governing the Council's business, and sets out who is responsible for the various functions of the Council. [See Parts 2 and 3.]~~

~~More detailed procedures, rules and codes of practice are included~~provided in separate rules and protocols in other parts of this Constitution. ~~parts along with other information to help enable citizens and other stakeholders understand how the Council operates. [See Parts 4 to 7.]~~

## 2.0 — What's in the Constitution?

Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law. ~~provide clear Leadership to the community and to continuously improve the delivery of services to the community.~~ Articles 2 – 16 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the Council operate. These are:

- Members of the Council (Article 2)
- Citizens and the Council (Article 3)
- The Council meeting (Article 4)
- Chairing the Council (Article 5)
- Overview and Sscrutiny of decisions (Article 6)
- The Executive ("The Cabinet") (Article 7)
- Regulatory and other Gcommittees in Council's operating executive arrangements (Article 8/7)
- The Standards Committee (Article 9/8)
- Area [Gcommittees (Article 10/9)
- Joint arrangements (Article 11/10)
- Officers (Article 12/11)

**Comment [AH1]:** Check the numbers of articles correlate with the text.

- [Decision making \(Article 13/12\)](#)
- [Finance, contracts and legal matters \(Article 14/13\)](#)
- [Review and revision of the Constitution \(Article 15/14\)](#)
- Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 16/[15](#))

### 3.0-How the Council operates

The Council is composed of 56 Councillors elected every four years. Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their [ward](#). The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote for them.

Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the way they undertake their duties. The Standards Committee trains and advises them on the code of conduct.

All Councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are normally open to the public. Here Councillors decide the Council's overall policies and set the budget each year.

At the Annual Meeting of the Council in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors, the Council will appoint one of the Councillors to the office of Leader of the Council for a term ending on the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the next year of an ordinary election of Councillors (i.e. for four years). The Leader will also appoint a Deputy Leader for the same term of office to act in his absence. However, in each Council Year the Leader will appoint between one and eight other Councillors to combine with the Leader and Deputy Leader to form a Cabinet. The Leader will then allocate a number of functional responsibilities (called a portfolio) to each of them. The Cabinet is responsible for an extensive range of functions in accordance with this Constitution and the policies and budget agreed by the Council. [See Articles 2 to 5.]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

~~The Council [here local authorities should describe the role of the full Council in appointing (where and if it is the Council's responsibility) and holding to account the executive and committees, and also any special features, e.g. state of the (area) debates and public question times – exact arrangements will depend on the form of constitution adopted by the Council]. At the Annual Meeting of the Council in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors, the Council will appoint one of the Councillors to the office of Leader of the Council for a term ending on the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the next year of an ordinary election of Councillors (i.e. for four years). The Leader will also appoint a Deputy Leader for the same term of office to act in his absence. However, in each Council Year the Leader will appoint between one and eight other Councillors to combine with the Leader and Deputy Leader to form a Cabinet. The Leader will then allocate a number of functional responsibilities (called a portfolio) to each of them. The Cabinet is responsible for an extensive range of functions in accordance with this Constitution and the policies and budget agreed by the Council. [See Articles 2 to 5.]~~

Comment [sh2]: Insert text

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Not Italic

### 4.0-How Decisions are Made

The Cabinet is the part of the Council which is responsible for most day-to-day decisions. ~~The Cabinet can be made up of the Leader and up to nine other Councillors whom he/she appoints.~~ When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the Cabinet's forward plan in so far as they can be anticipated. If these major

decisions are to be discussed with Council officers at a meeting of the Cabinet, this will generally be open for the public to attend except where personal or other confidential matters are being discussed. The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the Council's overall policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to decide. ~~[See Article 7 and Part 3; see also the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules and the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4.]~~

## 5.0 Overview and Scrutiny

~~There is an overview and scrutiny committee who supports the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole. They allow citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by holding public inquiries into matters of local concern. These lead to reports and recommendations which advise the Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee also monitors the decisions of the Cabinet. They can 'call-in' a decision which has been made by the Cabinet but not yet implemented. This enables them to consider whether the decision is appropriate. They may recommend that the Cabinet reconsiders the decision. They may also be consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on forthcoming decisions and the development of policy.~~

~~The Council must always appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee to support the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole. The Council has currently appointed one Overview and Scrutiny Committee called a "Panel" to undertake this role. Such Committees give the opportunity for citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by examining matters of local concern. These can lead to reports and recommendations which advise the Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. Overview and Scrutiny Committees also monitor the decisions of the Cabinet and Cabinet Members. Decisions, which have been made by the Cabinet but not yet implemented, can be "called in" for review. This enables consideration of whether the decision is appropriate. Scrutiny may recommend that the Cabinet or Cabinet Member reconsiders the decision. Scrutiny may also be consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on forthcoming decisions and the development of policy. [See Article 6 and the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4.]~~

## 6.0 Other Committees

~~The Council also appoints other Committees such as the Standards Committee which helps promote high standards of conduct in public life. There are also some "regulatory" Committees which will deal with things such as town and country planning and licensing matters.~~

## 7.0 The Council's Staff

The Council has people working for it (called 'officers') to give advice, implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services. Some officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. A ~~protocol~~code of practice governs the relationships between officers and members of the Council. ~~[See Article 12 and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations in Part 5.]~~

Comment [AH3]: Insert x reference

## 8.0 Citizens' Rights

~~The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work and their rights in dealing with the Council are set out in more detail in Article 3. Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. These are referred to in the paragraph below and Article 3. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council's own processes. The local Citizens' Advice Bureau, for example, can advise on individuals' legal rights.~~

Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a parent of a school pupil or as a Council tenant ~~or as an applicant for planning permission~~, they may have additional rights. These are not covered ~~in detail~~ in this Constitution.

**Citizens have the rights to:**

- vote at local elections if they are registered;
- contact their local councillor about any matters of concern to them;
- obtain a copy of the Constitution;
- attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed;
- petition to request a referendum on a Mayoral form of Executive;
- participate in the Council's question time and contribute to investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees ~~as set out in [?]; in accordance with the procedures laid down.~~
- find out, from the Executive's ie. the Cabinet's forward plan, what major decisions are to be discussed by the Cabinet or decided by the Cabinet or officers, and when;
- attend meetings of the Cabinet where key decisions are being discussed or decided;
- see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the Council and Cabinet;
- complain to the Council using the Council's complaints process;~~under its own complaints procedure;~~
- complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its procedures properly. (However, they should only do this after using the Council's own complaints ~~process; procedure;~~)
- complain to the ~~Standards Committee Council~~ if they have evidence which they think shows that a Councillor has not followed the Council's Code of Conduct; and
- inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the external auditor.

The Democratic Services Team ~~who will also supply information about the rights of citizens to inspect agendas and reports and attend meetings.~~

~~These rights are subject to the provisions of the relevant legislation and, where applicable, to the provisions of this Constitution.~~

~~The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For information about how citizens can contact their local Councillor about any matters of concern to them please see details on the Council's website at [www.thanet.gov.uk](http://www.thanet.gov.uk) or contact the Democratic Services Team for details.~~

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, First line: 0 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

~~For a copy of the statement of the rights of citizens to inspect agendas and reports and attend meetings or to obtain a copy of the constitution, again please contact the Democratic Services Team.~~

~~*[LEGAL NOTE.—In some places in this Constitution references are made to the law or to matters which are governed by law, for example, eligibility to stand for office at elections in Article 2 and the right to inspect the Council's accounts in Article 3. All references to the law or to matters which are governed by law are references to the legal position as at the date hereof and are included to assist in understanding the legal context in which the Council and this Constitution operates. They are not intended nor warranted in any way to constitute a comprehensive or accurate statement of the legal position at any time. In the event of any actual or alleged conflict between this Constitution and the law, the law shall prevail. In such event or in the event that there is any change in the law after the date hereof, this Constitution shall be construed in accordance with the law then pertaining.]*~~

# Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution

## Article 1 – The Constitution

### 1.01 Powers of the Council

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law of England and this Constitution.

### 1.02 The Constitution

This Constitution, ~~and all its appendices, consisting of Parts 1 to 7,~~ is the Constitution of the Thanet District Council.

### 1.03 Purpose of the Constitution

The purpose of the Constitution is to:

1. enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations;
2. support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority decision making;
- help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;
4. enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;
5. create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account;
6. ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly involved;
- ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and
8. provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1 cm, Space Before: 12 pt, Line spacing: Multiple 1.3 li

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 0.73 cm

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1 cm, First line: 0.25 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 0.73 cm

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 0.73 cm

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 0.73 cm

### 1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the purposes stated above.

The Council may monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 15 and may make changes to it at any time.

#### References:

~~Section 37, Local Government Act 2000~~

~~Chapter 10, DLTR Guidance~~

~~The Local Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000~~

## Article 2 – Members of the Council

### 2.01 Composition and eligibility

(a) **Composition.** The Council ~~currently consists of~~ will comprise 56 Members, otherwise called Councillors. One or more Councillors will be elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with the law applicable at the time of any election.

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Hanging: 1.29 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Tab stops: Not at 1.27 cm

~~(b) **Eligibility.** Only certain individuals such as~~ registered voters of the district or those living or working there will be eligible to hold the office of Councillor. ~~The detailed criteria are prescribed by law and there is currently a minimum age requirement of 21.~~

### 2.02 Election and terms of Councillors

**Election and terms.** The regular election of Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May every four years beginning in 2003. The terms of office of Councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election.

### 2.03 Roles and functions of all Councillors

(a) **Key roles.** All Councillors will:

~~(i) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and corporate management functions;~~

~~(ii) represent their communities and bring their views into the Council's decision-making process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their communities;~~

~~(iii) effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual constituents;~~

~~(iv) respond to constituents' enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially;~~

~~(v) participate in the governance and management of the Council;~~

~~(vi) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics; and~~

(vii) be eligible to represent the Council on other bodies.

(b) **Rights and duties**

(i) Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance with the law ~~and this constitution.~~

(ii) Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other than a Councillor or officer entitled to know it.

(iii) For these purposes, "confidential" and "exempt" information are defined in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 2.54 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm

### 2.04 Conduct

Councillors must at all times observe the Members' Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in **Part 5** of this Constitution.

Formatted: Highlight

## 2.05 Allowances

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members' Allowances Scheme set out in **Part 6** of this Constitution.

Formatted: Highlight



## **2.06 – Role Descriptions**

### **1. Ward Councillor**

#### **Purpose of Role:**

To participate constructively and effectively in the good governance of Thanet District Council.

#### **Duties and responsibilities:**

- (i) — To observe the Members' Code of Conduct, act at all times with probity and propriety in the best interests of the Council and maintain confidentiality in all relevant Council business.
- (ii) — To be collectively the ultimate policy makers by contributing actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council's policies, budget, strategies and service delivery.
- (iii) — To represent effectively and impartially the Ward to which they were elected and bring their communities' views and concerns into the Council's decision-making process by becoming the advocate of and for their communities.
- (iv) — To champion causes which best relate to the interests and sustainability of the community and campaign for improvement of quality of life in the community in terms of equity, economy and the environment.
- (v) — To respond to constituents' enquiries and representations fairly; to deal with individual casework and act as advocate in resolving constituents' particular concerns or grievances.
- (vi) — To participate effectively as a Member of any Committee, Sub-Committee, working party or other body to which they are appointed and to develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council's services, powers, duties, policies and practices including a good working relationship with officers of the Council.
- (vii) — To represent the Council effectively on any outside body to which they are appointed, providing two-way communication between the organisations and reporting to the Council on the work of the body and its contribution to the District.
- (viii) — To develop and maintain a working knowledge of other organisations and services within the District including the promotion of partnership working.
- (ix) — To contribute constructively to open government and generally encourage all sections of the community to participate in the democratic process.
- (x) — When unable to attend a meeting of Committee or other body to which they have been appointed a member, to consider finding a suitable substitute for the meeting and advise the Democratic Support section of the substitution.
- (xi) — To attend Member training whenever possible in order to develop competencies, increase knowledge and receive updated information.

### **2. Chairman of a Committee**

**~~Purpose of Role:~~**

~~To chair meetings of the Committee to which they have been appointed by Council in accordance with the Committee's terms of reference and to provide leadership and direction to the Committee.~~

~~———— Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor):~~

~~(i) — To develop a constructive relationship with the relevant Head of Service, senior officers and appropriate Portfolio Holder.~~

~~(ii) — To maintain a good working relationship with the Vice Chairman and Group Spokespersons of the committee and ensure they are adequately briefed on all relevant issues.~~

~~(iii) — To agree the agenda in consultation with the relevant officers.~~

~~(iv) — To be consulted as necessary on addition of items to the agenda as a matter of urgency.~~

~~(v) — To attend briefing meetings with appropriate senior officer(s) as necessary.~~

~~(vi) — To uphold the Council's Constitution for the conduct of meetings.~~

~~(vii) — To chair effective and efficient meetings of the committee ensuring that approved procedures are followed, all members of the committee are given equal opportunity to debate business to be conducted, and order is maintained during the meeting.~~

~~(viii) — To ensure that the Council's decision making process is transparent, consistent and accountable.~~

~~(ix) — To use the Chairman's second or casting vote as and when appropriate.~~

~~(x) — To vary the order of business if considered appropriate.~~

~~(xi) — To approve the final draft Minutes or Notes submitted by Democratic Services officers, suggesting amendments if necessary, and to sign the Minutes/Notes as a correct record of the meeting when approved by the committee at the following meeting.~~

**~~3. Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Panel~~**

**~~Purpose of Role:~~**

~~To chair the Council's Overview and Scrutiny Panel to ensure effective consideration and scrutiny by the Panel of decisions, proposals and reports of the Cabinet.~~

**~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~**

- ~~(i) — At all times to use their own discretion and act in the interests of the Council and not of their political group.~~
- ~~(ii) — To lead the Panel on scrutiny of the Council's policies, budget, strategies and service delivery as appropriate.~~
- ~~(iii) — To set the agenda for Panel meetings, with assistance from officers.~~
- ~~(iv) — To assist with formulation of the agreed work programme.~~
- ~~(v) — To represent the Panel's views and present its resolutions to meetings of the Cabinet, Council or other Committees.~~
- ~~(vi) — To promote the role of overview and scrutiny within and outside the Council.~~
- ~~(vii) — To meet regularly with relevant officers to ensure the receipt of appropriate independent advice.~~
- ~~(viii) — To be fully aware of the Council's Forward Plan and to ensure that the Panel is able to consider all relevant issues within the timescale set out in the work programme.~~
- ~~(ix) — To provide agreement where appropriate for special urgency decisions to be implemented if not in the Forward Plan, in accordance with relevant guidelines.~~
- ~~(x) — To fully involve external stakeholders such as service users, expert witnesses and partners in overview and scrutiny activities.~~
- ~~(xi) — To call in a decision of the Executive in accordance with the agreed procedure.~~
- ~~(xii) — To contribute effectively to the Council's scrutiny process by ensuring the questioning of the relevant officers on performance management.~~

#### ~~4. Chairman of Planning Committee~~

##### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~To chair meetings of the Council's Planning Committee in accordance with the Committee's terms of reference; to provide leadership and direction to the Committee and open and transparent decision making on planning applications brought to Committee.~~

##### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~

- ~~(i) — At all times to use their own discretion and act in the interests of Thanet District Council and not of their political group.~~
- ~~(ii) — To be fully conversant with the procedure for public speaking at Committee and to ensure that all parties are given an equal opportunity to express their views within that procedure.~~
- ~~(iii) — Whenever possible to attend and chair site visits, ensuring that the correct procedure is followed in order for Members to obtain the necessary information from the visit.~~
- ~~(iv) — To maintain and update a working knowledge of Town and Country Planning matters, Planning Policy Guidance and Planning Policy Statements, the Council's Local Development~~

~~Framework, and other policies and practices affecting applications for planning permission which come before Committee.~~

## ~~5. Chairman of Standards Committee~~

### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~To chair meetings of the Council's Standards Committee in accordance with the Committee's terms of reference; to provide leadership and direction to the Committee in close liaison with the Council's Monitoring Officer~~

### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~

~~(i) As an independent, non-elected member of the Council to be conversant with the protocols and practices of the Council insofar as they affect the conduct of elected District or Parish councillors who may be required to appear before the Committee or its Sub-Committees.~~

~~(ii) To be fully conversant with the Council's Code of Conduct and the procedures for hearing complaints against elected District or Parish councillors.~~

~~(iii) To assist the Council's Monitoring Officer as required with training elected councillors, both District and Parish.~~

~~(iv) To liaise with the appropriate officers on reports.~~

~~(v) To submit a report to the Annual Meeting of the Council on the work of the Standards Committee during the previous year.~~

## ~~6. Chairman of the Constitutional Review Working Party~~

### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~To chair meetings of the Council's Constitutional Review Working Party in accordance with the Working Party's terms of reference; to provide leadership and direction to the Working Party in close liaison with the Council's Monitoring Officer.~~

### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~

~~(i) To be fully conversant with the Council's Constitution and decision-making processes;~~

~~(ii) In so far as is practicable, to promote consensus decision-making in relation to Constitutional changes;~~

~~(iii) — As an independent, non-elected member of the Council to be conversant with the protocols and practices of the Council insofar as they affect the conduct of elected District or Parish councillors who may be required to appear before the Committee or its Sub-Committees;~~

~~(iv) — To liaise with the appropriate officers on reports;~~

## ~~7. Chairman of Licensing Board~~

### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~To chair meetings of the Council's Licensing Board in accordance with the Board's terms of reference; to provide leadership and direction to the Board and open and transparent decision making on licensing matters brought to Board.~~

### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~

~~(i) — At all times to use their own discretion and act in the interests of the Licensing Authority and not of their political group;~~

~~(ii) — To be fully conversant with the procedure for hearings at Committee and to ensure that all parties are given an equal opportunity to express their views within that procedure;~~

~~(iii) — To liaise with the Council's Regulatory Services Manager and Legal department as necessary;~~

~~(iv) — To maintain and update a working knowledge of the Licensing Act 2003, relevant guidelines and regulations, and the Gambling Act 2005 as they affect applications which come before the Licensing Board.~~

~~(v) — To maintain and update a working knowledge of the various licences dealt with by the Council's Licensing Section, the guidelines for fit and proper persons and the Council's guidelines and policies in respect of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades as they affect applications and other matters brought before the Licensing Board.~~

~~(vi) — To undertake training on new or amended legislation, regulations or procedures as required.~~

## ~~8. Chairman of Governance and Audit Committee~~

### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~To chair meetings of the Council's Governance and Audit Committee in accordance with the Committee's terms of reference; to provide leadership and direction to the Committee on detailed financial and audit matters brought before Committee.~~

### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~

~~(i) — Maintain and update a working knowledge of the Council's financial practices, budget process and timetable, draft and year end accounts.~~

~~(ii) — Have an overall understanding of the various functions and service areas of the Council with regard to audit reports on performance levels.~~

~~(iii) — To work closely with the Head of Audit Partnership, Financial Services Manager and Deputy S.151 Officer and the Business Support and Compliance Manager in respect of reports to be considered by Committee.~~

~~(iv) — To undertake training on new or amended legislation, regulations or procedures as required.~~

#### ~~9. Chairman of General Purposes Committee (when appointed)~~

##### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~To chair meetings of the Council's General Purposes Committee in accordance with the Committee's terms of reference; to provide leadership and direction to Members on matters which would otherwise have been dealt with by Council.~~

##### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Chairman of a Committee):~~

~~(i) — To have a clear understanding of the role of the Committee and the matters which it can consider and those powers and functions which are reserved to Council.~~

~~(ii) — Have an overall understanding of the various functions and service areas of the Council.~~

~~(iii) — Maintain and update a working knowledge of the Council's terms and conditions of employment.~~

~~(iv) — To work closely with the Chief Executive and the Service Managers as necessary.~~

#### ~~10. Cabinet Member~~

##### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~(i) — To carry out all of the Council's functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under the Council's Constitution.~~

~~(ii) — In addition, to have the general role of providing leadership and guidance in respect of all executive functions within the portfolio area for which they are accountable,~~

~~———— **Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor):**~~

~~(i) — To participate effectively as a member of the Cabinet, being responsible collectively and individually for making and implementing executive decisions, including proposing for adoption the Council's budget and policy framework;~~

~~(ii) — To review regularly the effectiveness of policies and services for which the portfolio holder is responsible and make recommendations to the Cabinet for continuous improvement.~~

~~(iii) — To seek advice from relevant officers before taking any decision which may be within their own delegated authority.~~

~~(iv) — To monitor and review capital and revenue budgets in their areas of responsibility to ensure expenditure and income is consistent with the Council's agreed budget.~~

~~(v) — Annually to review fees and charges where these are relevant to the responsibility areas and to recommend changes in line with the Council's agreed budget strategy.~~

~~(vi) — To liaise and work with other portfolio holders on cross-cutting areas of responsibility and make recommendations to the Cabinet as appropriate for decision.~~

~~(vii) — To consider and agree service plans for services for which they are responsible and regularly review these with appropriate officers to ensure agreed actions are taken.~~

~~(viii) — To identify and encourage participation and consultation on Council policies and strategies contained in the Corporate Plan with all members of the Council, staff, residents of the District, partners and stakeholders and to promote the Council's core values.~~

~~(ix) — To speak on behalf of the Council and to represent the Council on relevant external bodies to which they are appointed by the Council or the Executive.~~

~~(x) — To refer to Cabinet any matters with corporate implications.~~

~~(xi) — To receive representations from Councillors acting in their capacity as Ward members in relation to the provision of services to residents within their area.~~

~~(xii) — To exercise delegated powers in accordance with the Council's Constitution.~~

~~(xiii) — To make a decision in accordance with the Council's Constitution in a case where a matter is urgent and cannot wait for the next meeting of the Cabinet.~~

~~———— **11. Leader of the Council**~~

~~———— **Purpose of Role:**~~

~~(i) — To provide strategic direction and leadership to the Council and lead in its relations with government, other public bodies, partner organisations and the media.~~

~~(ii) — To be responsible for:~~

- ~~• Leadership~~ ~~Communications~~
- ~~• Policy co-ordination and development~~ ~~Corporate Plan~~
- ~~• Partnership development~~ ~~Community strategy~~
- ~~• Strategic budget co-ordination~~

~~**— Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor and Chairman of a Committee):**~~

~~(i) — To provide effective political leadership and strategic direction to the Council, stakeholders and partners in the overall co-ordination of Council policies, strategies and service delivery and to achieve the objectives of the Council's Corporate Plan.~~

~~(ii) — To ensure effective corporate governance including working with opposition groups to achieve, where possible, cross party co-operation and to promote the highest standards of probity.~~

~~(iii) — To lead the Cabinet and chair its meetings, ensuring that it meets its collective terms of reference and that of individual portfolio holders, and be responsible for the Council's corporate and resource strategy.~~

~~(iv) — To lead the development of local, regional, national and European policy and strategic partnerships.~~

~~(v) — To lead in developing partnerships with agencies, residents and stakeholders in relation to the delivery of strategic objectives and the provision of services to residents of the District in accordance with the community planning process.~~

~~(vi) — To be the key contact for outside organisations including central government, to communicate policies and priorities to the Council's Senior Management Team (SMT) and to receive its advice.~~

~~(vii) — To positively promote the Council and the District in the media and to act as the spokesperson for the Council.~~

~~(viii) — To promote the long term financial, business and economic stability of the Council.~~

~~(ix) — To ensure that the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees are fully considered in the formulation and development of Council policy.~~

~~(x) — Annually to appoint members of the Cabinet and determine the individual portfolio holders.~~

~~(xi) — To exercise delegated powers in accordance with the Council's Constitution.~~

~~(xii) — To consult on and give consent to as appropriate decisions taken between meetings of Cabinet as set out in the Council's Constitution.~~

~~(xiii) — To nominate members of his/her group to serve on committees and sub-committees of the Council.~~

~~(xvi) — To give an oral report to each ordinary meeting of Council.~~



~~(xv) — In the event of a hung Council, the Leader of Council and Opposition Leader should work together in a constructive manner.~~

## **12. Deputy Leader**

### **Purpose of the role:**

~~To support the Leader and fulfil all areas of responsibility of the Leader in their absence and to ensure that the Council's management and political processes function effectively.~~

### **Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor and a Chairman of a Committee):**

- ~~(i) — To assist and work with the Leader of the Council.~~
- ~~(ii) — In the absence of the Leader of the Council, to deputise for them at Council meetings and chair meetings of the Cabinet.~~
- ~~(iii) — To carry out the requirements of the Leader's job profile in as far as legally possible and permissible, in the absence of the Leader.~~
- ~~(iv) — To carry out such duties and undertake portfolio responsibility as delegated by the Leader of the Council.~~

## **13. Shadow Leader of Council**

### **Purpose of Role:**

- ~~(i) — To provide leadership to the Council's major opposition group.~~
- ~~(ii) — To ensure effective, positive and constructive opposition and/or challenge to the Council's majority group.~~

### **Duties and Responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor and Chairman of a Committee):**

- ~~(i) — To provide overall leadership to the Council's major opposition group;~~
- ~~(ii) — To ensure effective corporate governance including working with other groups to achieve, where possible, cross party co-operation and to promote the highest standards of probity;~~
- ~~(iii) — To lead effectively the opposition and/or challenge to the majority group at the Council and provide, as appropriate, alternatives or amendments to the Council's policies, strategies and budgets and proposed amendments thereto.~~

~~(iv) — To act as the principal political spokesperson for the major opposition group.~~

~~(v) — To meet regularly with his/her group members to ensure good communications and to inform effective opposition;~~

~~(vi) — To maintain effective relationships with the Leader of the Council, members of the Executive, the Chief Executive, Service Managers and other relevant senior officers, to meet them as required to ensure effective briefings on service and relevant corporate areas and any other relevant issues pertaining to the Council.~~

~~(vii) — To nominate members of his/her group to serve on committees and sub-committees of the Council.~~

~~(viii) — To ensure effective contact with community representatives and other local stakeholders, as appropriate, and represent their views in ensuring effective opposition to the majority party.~~

~~(ix) — In the event of a hung Council, the Leader of Council and Opposition Leader should work together in a constructive manner.~~

#### ~~14. Shadow Cabinet Member~~

##### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~— To assist the Leader of the Majority Opposition Group by providing informed comment and advice in respect of their particular shadow portfolio and with regard to the work being undertaken by the current Portfolio Holder.~~

##### ~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor):~~

~~(i) — To provide constructive challenge to the policies of the administration.~~

~~(ii) — To assist in shaping the policy of the Opposition Group with regard to its shadow portfolio.~~

~~(iii) — To liaise and work with other shadow portfolio holders on cross-cutting areas of responsibility.~~

~~(iv) — To receive briefings at regular intervals from Senior Officers of the Council as required.~~

~~(v) — To participate effectively as a member of the Shadow Cabinet by becoming thoroughly conversant with the area of expertise relevant to their specific portfolio.~~

#### ~~15. Chairman of the Council~~

##### ~~Purpose of Role:~~

~~— The Chairman will be elected by the Council annually to:~~

~~(i) — Be the Civic Head of the Council representing the Council as a whole in all civic and ceremonial matters; and~~

~~(ii) — Preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the Community.~~

**~~Duties and responsibilities (in addition to those of a Ward Councillor and Chairman of a Committee):~~**

**~~Ceremonial Role~~**

~~(i) — The Chairman will attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and he/she determines appropriate having regard to criteria determined in consultation with the Leader of the Council for which events require a civic/ceremonial presence.~~

~~(ii) — To positively promote the Council and the District.~~

**~~Chairing the Council Meeting~~**

~~(i) — To uphold and promote the purposes of the Council's Constitution and to interpret the Constitution when necessary.~~

~~(ii) — To preside over meetings of the Council in an impartial manner.~~

~~(iii) — To ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to the local community and the place at which Members who are neither on the Executive nor hold Committee chairs are able to hold the Executive and Committee chairmen to account.~~

~~—— (iv) — To promote public involvement in the Council's activities.~~

~~—— (v) — To be the conscience of the Council.~~

~~(vii) — To be the arbiter in respect of appropriate decisions taken between meetings of Cabinet where the call in procedure should not apply.~~

**~~16. Vice-Chairman of the Council~~**

**~~Purpose of Role:~~**

~~To support the Chairman of the Council and, in his/her absence, to have the same roles and functions as the Chairman.~~

~~——~~

~~——~~

**~~Duties and Responsibilities:~~**

~~(i) To attend such civic functions and events as shall be requested by the Chairman.~~

~~(ii) To assist the Chairman at meetings of Council as necessary.~~

*References:*

~~Part I, Part VA and Section 79, Local Government Act 1972~~

~~Chapter 2, DLTR Guidance~~

~~Section 18, Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and regulations thereunder~~

~~Section 7, Superannuation Act 1972 and regulations thereunder~~

~~[See further:-~~

~~On "Members' Code of Conduct" and "Protocol on Member/Officer Relations", see Part 5.]~~

## Article 3 – Citizens and the Council

### 3.01 Citizens' rights

#### ~~3.01 — The Council is there to serve the people of Thanet~~

**NB.** These rights are subject to the provisions of the relevant legislation and, where applicable, to the provisions of this Constitution.

Citizens have the following rights. ~~a wide variety of rights which are conferred by law and by this Constitution.~~ Their rights to information and to participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

- (a) **Voting and petitions.** Citizens on the electoral roll for the area have the right to vote and sign a petition to request a referendum for an elected Mayor form of Constitution.
- (b) **Information.** Citizens have the right to:
  - (i) attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private;
  - (ii) attend meetings of the Cabinet executive when key decisions are being considered;
  - (iii) find out from the forward plan what key decisions will be taken by the Cabinet executive and when;
  - (iv) see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the Council and the Cabinet executive; and
  - (v) inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the external auditor.
- (c) **Participation.** Citizens have the right to participate in the Council's question time and contribute to investigations by Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
- (d) **Complaints.** Citizens have the right to complain to:
  - (i) the Council itself under its complaints scheme;
  - (ii) the Ombudsman after using the Council's own complaints scheme ~~provided that the complaint has been brought to the notice of the Council and that the Council has been afforded a reasonable opportunity to investigate and reply;~~
  - (iii) ~~the Standards Committee about a breach of the Members' Code of Conduct about the conduct of a member if they have evidence which they believe shows that a member has breached the Council's code of conduct.~~

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.25 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

**Comment [AH4]:** Check use of language

### 3.02 Citizens' responsibilities

Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or officers.

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Space After: 6 pt

### 3.03 Contacting their local member

(a) Citizens have the right to contact their local member about any matters of concern to them.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

(b) Citizens have the right to lobby any member about any matters of concern to them.

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm, Space After: 6 pt

### 3.04 Contacting the Council

Citizens can contact the Council through its website, by email, in person or on the telephone.

[See further:-

On "Key Decisions", see Article 13.

On "the Forward Plan", see Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4.

On "Overview and Scrutiny Committees", see Article 6 and Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4.]

## Article 4 – The Full Council

### 4.01 Meanings

(a) **Policy Framework.** The “~~P~~olicy ~~F~~ramework” means the following plans and strategies:

**Comment [AH5]:** Revisions to be inserted

~~— Statutory~~

- Best Value Performance Plan;
- Community Strategy;
- Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy;
- Local Transport Plan;
- Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan.

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 2.27 cm, First line: 0.27 cm, Line spacing: Exactly 12 pt

~~— Non-statutory~~

- Council's Corporate Plan;
- Food Law Enforcement Service Plan;
- The plan and strategy which comprise the Housing Investment Programme;
- Local Agenda 21 Strategy.

~~Other plans and strategies which the council may decide should be adopted by the Council meeting~~

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Italic

~~The Council can adopt additional plans and strategies to form part of the Policy Framework.~~

(b) **Budget.** The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the ~~C~~council tax base, setting the ~~C~~council tax and decisions ~~by way of the formulation of a plan or strategy~~ relating to the control of the Council's borrowing requirement, ~~investments or the control of its~~ capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits.

(c) **Housing Land Transfer.** Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications (whether in draft form or not) to the Secretary of State for approval of a programme of disposal of 500 or more properties to a person under the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 or to dispose of land used for residential purposes where approval is required under sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985.

### 4.02 Functions of the full Council

Except as otherwise allowed by **Article 13 and Article 15**, ~~o~~Only the Council will exercise the following functions:

**Formatted:** Highlight

- (a) adopting and changing the Constitution;
- (b) approving or adopting the policy framework, the budget and any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer; ~~including:~~
  - ~~(i) the giving of instructions requiring the Cabinet to reconsider any draft plan or strategy submitted by the Cabinet for the authority's consideration;~~
  - ~~(ii) the amendment of any draft plan or strategy submitted by the Cabinet for the authority's consideration;~~
  - ~~(iii) the approval, for the purpose of its submission to the Secretary of State or any Minister of the Crown for his/her approval, of any plan or strategy (whether or not in the form of a draft) of which any part is required to be so submitted; and~~
  - ~~(iv) the adoption (with or without modification) of the plan or strategy;~~
- (c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any matter in the discharge of an ~~E~~xecutive function which is covered by the policy framework or the budget where

the decision maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with the budget;

- (d) appointing the ~~L~~leader;
- (e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for Committees, deciding on their composition and making appointments to them;
- (f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an ~~E~~executive function or has been delegated by the Council;
- (g) adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05;
- (h) changing the name of the area;
- (i) confirming the appointment of the ~~H~~head of ~~P~~paid ~~S~~service;
- (j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills;
- (k) all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the ~~Cabinet~~executive; and
- (l) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council.

#### 4.03 Council meetings

There are three types of Council meeting:

- (a) the annual meeting;
- (b) ordinary meetings;
- (c) extraordinary meetings.

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

#### 4.04 Responsibility for functions

The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the responsibilities for the Council's functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.

~~References:~~

~~Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000  
Chapter 2, DLTR Guidance~~

~~[See further:-~~

~~For decision making generally, see Article 13.]~~



## Article 5 – Chairing the Council

### 5.01 Role and function of the Chairman

The Chairman of Council and in his/her absence, the Vice-Chairman, will have the following roles and functions:

- Ceremonial Role
- Chairing the Council Meeting

The Chairman will be elected by the Council annually. The Chairman will have the following responsibilities:

1. to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the Constitution when necessary;
2. to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the community;
3. to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to the local community and the place at which members who are not on the Cabinet or hold Committee Chairs are able to hold the Cabinet members and Committee Chairmen to account;
4. to support the promotion of public involvement in the Council's activities;
5. to be the conscience of the Council; and
6. to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and he/she determines appropriate.

#### *References:*

~~Sections 3, 5, 245; schedule 2, 12; Local Government Act 1972~~

~~Schedule 3, Local Government Act 2000~~

~~Chapters 2 and 4, DLTR Guidance~~

~~[See further:-~~

~~On "the purposes of the Constitution", see Article 1.]~~

## Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny Committees

### 6.01 Terms of reference

~~The Council will always appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee to discharge the functions conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and set out in detail in 6.03 of this article. [?]. The current committee arrangement is set out in the Annex to this Article.~~

<u>Committee</u>	<u>Scope</u>
<u>Lifelong learning and culture</u>	<del>The provision, planning and management of education, training, arts and culture in [area].</del>
<u>Regeneration and housing</u>	<del>The physical, social and economic environment and regeneration of [area], the provision, planning and management of its housing and the built environment.</del>
<u>Social inclusion</u>	<del>Policies and strategies of the Council and other bodies which affect the economic, social and political resources available to individuals to enable them to participate fully in society, especially in the context of the national strategy for neighbourhood renewal.</del>
<u>Public accounts</u>	<del>The Council's budget, the management of its budget, capital, revenue borrowing and assets and its audit arrangements.</del>
<u>Services</u>	<del>The provision, planning, management and performance of council services, including support services, best value, the community plan and any other Council function not otherwise addressed by any other committee.</del>
<u>Social care and health</u>	<del>The provision, planning and management of social and healthcare, children's, elderly persons and mental welfare service in [area], and the holding to account of health authorities as proposed under the NHS Plan.</del>
<u>Democracy and governance</u>	<del>Local democracy and the achievement of effective, transparent and accountable decision making by the Council.</del>

~~In considering membership of such committees, due regard should be paid to the potential contribution of community stakeholders outside the council. Overview and scrutiny committees in local education authorities must comply with the provisions of paragraphs 7, 8, 10 and 11 of schedule 1 to the Local Government Act 2000 or provisions proposed in regulations under section 32 (i.e. include church and parent governor representatives as voting appointed members of committees with education as all or part of their remit).~~

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Italic

### 6.02 General powers/role

Within ~~its~~their terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee ~~may~~will:

- ~~(a) review and/or scrutinise the decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any of the Council's functions;~~
- ~~(ib) make reports and/or recommendations to the Cabinet, Council~~Cabinet and/or Council~~ or any appropriate Committee in connection with the discharge of any functions; and and/or Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process;~~
- (c) consider any matter affecting the area or its residents.
- ~~(ii) question members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and chief officers about their decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;~~
- ~~(iii) question members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and chief officers about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area~~
- ~~(iv) question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent);~~
- ~~(v) exercise overall responsibility for the finances made available to them;~~
- ~~(vi) exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of any officers employed to support their work.~~

### **6.03 Specific functions**

#### Terms of Reference

- (a) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet
- (b) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet
- (c) to deal with all call-in matters arising under Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 15 and Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rule 6.
- (d) to deal with all overview and scrutiny policy matters contained within the constitution, having specific regard for (i) developing new approaches to policy and making appropriate recommendations to assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues, and (ii) for budget development, budget review and spending performance issues and in order to assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget framework;
- (e) within the constraints of officer time and budgets, conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues and possible options;
- (f) consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community participation in the development of policy options;
- (g) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working;
- (h) to make reports or recommendation to the authority or the Cabinet on matters which affect the authority's area or the inhabitants of the area.
- (i) to review external partnership working and the performance of external service providers.
- (j) to undertake Best Value, Value for Money and other reviews, and review action plans arising from them, including progress on their implementation .
- (k) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.
- (l) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.

[Insert TOR from TDR p24 marked in blue]

**6.04 Annual report.** ~~The Overview and scrutiny committees may report annually to full Council on their workings and make recommendations for future work programmes and amended working methods if appropriate.~~

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

**6.035 Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Panels/committees**

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will conduct ~~their~~ proceedings in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

~~**6.04 Annual Report**~~

~~The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may report annually to full Council on its workings and make recommendations for future work programmes and amended working methods if appropriate.~~

*References:*

*Section 21 and schedule 1 (Paragraphs 7, 8, 10 and 11), Local Government Act 2000*

*Chapter 3, DLTR Guidance*

## **Annex to Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny Committee**

### Terms of Reference

- ~~(a) — to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet~~
- ~~(b) — to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet~~
- ~~(c) — to deal with all call in matters arising under Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 15 and Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rule 6.~~
- ~~(d) — to deal with all overview and scrutiny policy matters contained within the constitution, having specific regard for (i) developing new approaches to policy and making appropriate recommendations to assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues, and (ii) for budget development, budget review and spending performance issues and in order to assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget framework;~~
- ~~(e) — within the constraints of officer time and budgets, conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues and possible options;~~
- ~~(f) — consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community participation in the development of policy options;~~
- ~~(g) — liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working;~~
- ~~(h) — to make reports or recommendation to the authority or the Cabinet on matters which affect the authority's area or the inhabitants of the area.~~
- ~~(i) — to review external partnership working and the performance of external service providers.~~
- ~~(j) — to undertake Best Value, Value for Money and other reviews, and review action plans arising from them, including progress on their implementation.~~
- ~~(k) — to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.~~
- ~~(l) — to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet.~~

## Article 7 – The Executive (“The Cabinet”)

### THE ROLE OF THE CABINET

#### 7.01 Role

The Cabinet will carry out all of the local authority’s functions ~~The Cabinet will carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this Constitution, apart from those responsibilities that either the law of England or this Constitution assigns to any other part or person within this Authority.~~

#### 7.02 Form and composition

The Cabinet will consist of the Lleader of the Council ~~(“the Leader”) elected by full Council, together with~~ the Deputy Leader ~~appointed by the Leader~~ and at least one but not more than ~~eight other C~~councillors ~~also~~ appointed by the Lleader.

#### 7.03 Leader

~~The~~ LThe Lleader will be a Ccouncillor elected to the position of Lleader ~~of~~by the Council ~~at the Annual Meeting of the Council in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors.~~ The Lleader will hold office until ~~the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the next year of an ordinary election of Councillors (i.e. for a term of four years), unless:~~

- (a) he/she resigns from the office; or
- (b) he/she is suspended from being a Ccouncillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (although he/she may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or
- (c) he/she ~~ceases for any reason to be a~~ is no longer a Ccouncillor; or
- (d) he/she is removed from office by resolution of the Council.

#### 7.04 Replacement of Leader upon Resignation etc.

Should the Leader cease to hold office for any reason other than removal by a resolution of the Council, the Council will elect a new Leader at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council. Should the Leader cease to hold office by resolution of the Council, the Council will at the same meeting elect a new Leader. In either case the term of office of the new Leader will be the unexpired residue of the term of office of the former Leader.

#### 7.05 Deputy Leader

Upon election as Leader, the Leader will appoint a Councillor to the office of Deputy Leader. The Deputy Leader will have full power to act in the absence of the Leader and will hold office until the date of the Annual Meeting of Council in the next year of an ordinary election of Councillors (i.e. for a term of four years), unless:

- (a) he/she resigns from the office; or

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, First line: 0 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt, Font color: Auto

- (b) he/she is suspended from being a Councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (although he/she may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or
- (c) he/she ceases for any reason to be a Councillor; or
- (d) he/she is removed from office by the Leader, in which case the Leader will give notice in writing to that effect to the proper officer who shall immediately give a copy of the notice to the Deputy Leader and to the Chief Executive (unless it is clear that this has already been done). The removal will take immediate effect upon receipt of the notice by the proper officer.

#### 7.06 Replacement of Deputy Leader upon Resignation etc.

Should the Deputy Leader cease to hold office for any reason other than suspension from being a Councillor, the Leader will appoint a Councillor as the new Deputy Leader and will notify the Council of the identity of the new Deputy Leader at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council. The term of office of the new Deputy Leader will be the unexpired residue of the term of office of the former Deputy Leader.

#### 7.07 Other Cabinet members

In each Council Year in which he or she holds office, the Leader will:

- (a) within the prescribed limits, determine the number of Councillors who together with the Leader and Deputy Leader shall comprise the Cabinet for the ensuing Council Year;
- (b) be responsible for appointing them;
- (c) notify Council at the Annual Meeting of his or her decisions in relation to (a) and (b) above.

#### 7.08 Term of Office of Other Cabinet members

Other Cabinet members shall hold office until:

- (a) they resign from office; or
- (b) they are suspended from being Councillors under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (although they may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or
- (c) they ~~cease for any reason to be~~ are no longer Councillors; or
- (d) they are removed from office by the Leader in which case the Leader will give written notice of any removal to the proper officer who shall immediately give a copy of the notice to the Cabinet member in question and to the Chief Executive (unless it is clear that this has already been done). The removal will take immediate effect upon receipt of the notice by the proper officer.

#### 7.09 Cabinet Portfolios

In each Council Year the Leader will allocate a range of functional responsibilities (called 'a portfolio') to the members of the Cabinet and will at the Annual Meeting also notify Council of such allocation and will cause that to be recorded in the Constitution of the Council.

#### 7.10 Proceedings of the Cabinet

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

### 7.11 Responsibility for functions

The ~~L~~leader will maintain a list in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out which individual members of the Cabinet, ~~C~~committees of the Cabinet, officers or joint arrangements are responsible for the exercise of particular ~~E~~executive functions.

#### ~~References:~~

~~Section 11 and schedule 1, paragraphs 1, 2, 3, Local Government Act 2000~~

~~Chapters 4, 14 and 15, DLTR Guidance~~

~~[See further:-~~

~~On “proper officer”, see list of proper officer functions in Appendix 1 to Part 7.~~

~~For powers of Leader, see Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4.~~

~~For election of Leader and Deputy Leader by Council, see Council Procedure Rule 1.1.]~~



## Article 8 – Regulatory and other Committees

### 8.01 Regulatory and other Committees

The Council will appoint the Committees set out in Part 3 of this Constitution – ‘Responsibility for Council Functions’ – to discharge the functions described.

This note is added for information only and does not comprise part of this Constitution.

The Committees appointed as at the date hereof are as follows:-

1. Planning Committee - 15 Members
2. Licensing Board - 15 Members
3. Governance and Audit Committee - 9 Members
4. Standards Committee - 7 Thanet District Council Members plus 4 “independent” Members and 3 Parish/Town Council Members
5. Overview and Scrutiny Panel - 16 Members
6. Joint Transportation Board - 8 Thanet District Council Members plus the 8 Kent County Council Councillors representing Thanet wards and 1 Thanet Association of Parish Councils representative
7. Constitutional Review Working Party - 4 Thanet District Council Members plus 2 “independent” Members
8. Standards (Assessment) Sub Committee - Three members of the Standards Committee including in all cases an Independent Member and in the case of a complaint against a Town or Parish Councillor, at least one Town/Parish Representative
9. Standards (Hearings) Sub-Committee - Three members of the Standards Committee including in all cases an Independent Member and in the case of a complaint against a Town or Parish Councillor, at least one Town/Parish Representative
10. General Purposes Committee - 10 Members
11. Boundary and Electoral Arrangements Working Party - 7 Members

## Article 9 – The Standards Committee

### 9.01 ~~General~~Standards Committee

~~A Committee of the Council established to make recommendations in relations to ethics and the standards of conduct expected of elected and co-opted members of Thanet District Council and the Town and Parish Councils established in the administrative area of Thanet District Council. The Council meeting will establish a Standards Committee.~~

#### 9.02 Composition

**(a) Membership.** The Standards Committee will be composed of at least:

- ~~Seven~~ councillors [other than the leader];
- ~~Four~~ independent members;
- ~~Three~~ members of a parish council wholly or mainly in the Council's area (Parish Members).

**(b) Independent members.** Independent members will be entitled to vote at meetings;

**(c) Parish members.** At least one parish member must be present when matters relating to those parish councils or their members are being considered;

**(d) Chairing the Committee.** The Chairman and Vice chairman of the Committee shall be drawn from among the independent members.

#### ~~9.02 Membership, Chairmanship and Quorum~~

<del>Number of Members</del>	<del>Fourteen Members comprising seven District Councillors, four Independent Members (non councillors) and three Town/Parish Representatives</del>
<del>Substitute Members Permitted</del>	<del>Yes</del>
<del>Political Balance Rules apply</del>	<del>No Council is asked to waive political balance at each Annual Meeting</del>
<del>Appointments/Removals from Office</del>	<del>By resolution of full Council.</del>
<del>Restrictions on Membership</del>	<del>Cabinet Leader and Group Whips ineligible The co-opted Town/Parish Representatives must not also be District Councillors.</del>
<del>Restrictions on Chairmanship/Vice Chairmanship</del>	<del>Chairman and Vice Chairman to be co-opted Independent Members</del>
<del>Quorum</del>	<del>Three</del>
<del>Number of ordinary meetings per Council Year</del>	<del>Four</del>
<del>Standing Sub Committees</del>	<del>Standards (Assessment) Sub Committee and Standards (Hearings) Sub Committee</del>

#### 9.03 Role and Function

The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions:

- (a)** To promote and maintain high ethical standards of conduct for elected and co-opted Members.
- (b)** To help elected and co-opted Members to observe the Members' Code of Conduct.

**Formatted:** Justified, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 0.95 cm + Indent at: 1.59 cm

**Formatted:** Justified, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 0.95 cm + Indent at: 1.59 cm

**Formatted:** Justified, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 0.95 cm + Indent at: 1.59 cm

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 0.95 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Not Bold

(c) To give the Council advice on adoption or revision of the Members' Code of Conduct and on informal codes/protocols covering matters such as planning and Member/Officer relations.

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 0.95 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

(d) To monitor the effectiveness of the Members' Code of Conduct.

(e) To train or arrange training for elected and co-opted Members on matters relating to the Members' Code of Conduct.

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 0.95 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

(f) To deal with complaints that elected and co-opted Members have breached the Members' Code of Conduct and in connection with this function:

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 0.95 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

(i) To develop and adopt:

- Assessment Criteria for dealing with complaints;
- Policies for dealing with vexatious, persistent and anonymous complaints and requests by complainants for confidentiality;
- Arrangements for dealing with complaints and publicising the arrangements;
- Procedures for dealing with local investigations; and
- Such other provisions and procedures as may be required.

**Formatted:** Justified, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Tab stops: Not at 0.95 cm

(ii) To establish and maintain **Assessment and** Hearings Sub-Committees.

(g) To grant dispensations under S.33 Localism Act 2011.

(h) To conduct Hearings and make determinations in respect of complaints that elected and co-opted Members have breached the Members' Code of Conduct in accordance with relevant statutory and Constitutional requirements and in connection with this function:

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 0.95 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

(i) To develop and adopt procedures for dealing with such Hearings; and

(ii) To establish and maintain a **Hearings Sub-Committee** with its own terms of reference.

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2.54 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

(i) To undertake the functions set out above in respect of [insert names of parish councils if any].

**Note:** The procedures for dealing with Complaints against Members alleging a breach of the Members' Code of Conduct are set out in **Part 4(i)** of the Constitution.

**[NB insert extra functions as agreed]**

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Not Bold

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Not Bold, Highlight

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Not Bold

### **9.03 Terms of Reference**

---

~~To discharge the functions (other than those which are reserved to Council) as set out in Part 1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 including:~~

- ~~1. To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted Members of the District Council and to make recommendations to Council on improving standards.~~
- ~~2. To advise and assist Parish/Town Councils and Parish/Town Councillors to maintain high standards of conduct and to make recommendations to Parish/Town Councils on improving standards.~~
- ~~3. To advise the District Council on the adoption of or revisions to its Members Code of Conduct.~~
- ~~4. To advise, train or arrange to train District Members, Co-opted Members and Parish/Town Councillors on matters relating to the Members Code of Conduct.~~
- ~~5. To assist District Councillors, Co-opted Members and Parish/Town Councillors to observe their respective Codes of Conduct.~~
- ~~6. To monitor and assess the operation and effectiveness of the Members Code of Conduct and to review and manage the Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints.~~
- ~~7. To maintain oversight of the District Council's arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints.~~
- ~~8. To monitor and review the procedures for the Register of Members' Interests and declaring gifts and hospitality.~~
- ~~9. Recommending to Council for approval the terms of any other codes or protocols relating to matters of conduct, ethics or propriety, including without limitation the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations and the Protocol on the Guidance of Planning Committee Members and Officers and any alterations or amendments thereto.~~
- ~~10. Receiving the recommendations of the Constitution Review Working Party Working and recommending to Council the terms of the Constitution for the Governance of Thanet District Council~~

~~11. — To receive quarterly reports (or less frequently if there are no complaints to report) from the Monitoring Officer on the number and nature of complaints received and action taken as a result.~~

~~12. — To receive an annual report on the District Council's ethical governance arrangements.~~

~~13. — To grant dispensations pursuant to S33 (2) of the Localism Act 2011 where:~~

~~13.1 — without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups on the body transacting the business would be so upset as to alter the outcome of any vote on the matter.~~

~~13.2 — that the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in its area; or~~

~~13.3 — where the Committee considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.~~

~~14 — Responsibility for establishing the following Advisory Sub Committees to carry out the following functions:-~~

~~14.1 — A Standards Assessment Sub Committee with responsibility for making recommendations to the Monitoring Officer on whether in relation to a complaint alleging a failure to comply with the requirements of the Members Code of Conduct no further action should be taken in respect of the complaint or whether the informal disputes resolution procedure should be instigated or whether the complaint should be the subject of an investigation.~~

~~14.2 — A Standards Hearings Sub Committee with responsibility for conducting a hearing into a complaint that has been referred to it by the Monitoring Officer and for making recommendations to the Monitoring Officer as to whether there has been a failure by a member to comply with the requirements of the Members Code of Conduct and if so, what action should be taken (if any) in respect of such failure.~~

~~15 — Responsibility for the overview of the Council's complaints procedure including ombudsman investigations.~~

#### **9.04 Delegations**

~~— The matters referred to in Paragraphs 3 to 8 and 11-15 (inclusive) above.~~

~~9.05 STANDARDS (ASSESSMENT) SUB COMMITTEE~~

~~9.06 General~~

~~A Sub Committee of the Standards Committee established to make recommendations to the Monitoring Officer on whether in relation to a complaint alleging a failure to comply with the requirements of the Members Code of Conduct no further action should be taken in respect of the complaint or whether the informal disputes resolution procedure should be instigated or whether the complaint should be the subject of an investigation~~

~~9.07 Membership, Chairmanship and Quorum~~

<del>Number of Members</del>	<del>Three members of the Standards Committee including in all cases an Independent Member and in the case of a complaint against a Town or Parish Councillor, at least one Town/Parish Representative</del>
<del>Substitute Members Permitted</del>	<del>No</del>
<del>Political Balance Rules apply</del>	<del>No</del>
<del>Appointments/Removals from Office</del>	<del>The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to appoint members on a per meeting basis</del>
<del>Restrictions on Membership</del>	<del>Reserved to members of the Standards Committee.</del>
<del>Restrictions on Chairmanship</del>	<del>Chairmanship is reserved to a co-opted Independent Member</del>
<del>Quorum</del>	<del>Three</del>
<del>Number of ordinary meetings per Council Year</del>	<del>Meetings will be called as required</del>

~~9.08 Terms of Reference~~

~~1. When required to do so to conduct an initial assessment of a complaint alleging that an elected or co-opted Member of Thanet District Council or a Town or Parish Council established in Thanet failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for elected and co-opted Members adopted by their Council and make a recommendations to the Monitoring Officer that:~~

- ~~(i) No further action be taken in respect of the complaint; or~~

~~(ii) — The Informal Disputes Resolution Procedure be instigated; or~~

~~(iii) — The complaint should be the subject of an investigation.~~

~~(iv) — To produce a written summary of its consideration of a complaint to include the main points considered, its conclusion on the complaint and the reasons for that conclusion and to make arrangements to ensure that such summary is available for inspection by members of the public at the Council Offices for a period of one year beginning with the date of the meeting that considered the complaint.~~

~~9.09 — Delegations~~

~~N/A.~~

~~9.10 — STANDARDS (HEARINGS) SUB COMMITTEE~~

~~9.11 — General~~

~~A Sub Committee of the Standards Committee established to conduct a hearing into a complaint referred to it by the Monitoring Officer and for making a recommendations to the Monitoring Officer on whether in the opinion of the Sub Committee there has been a failure by an elected or co-opted member of Thanet District Council or a Town or Parish Council established in Thanet to comply with the requirements Members Code of Conduct adopted by their Council and if the Sub Committee is of the opinion that there has been a failure to comply to further recommend to the Monitoring Officer what action to take (if any) in relation thereto~~

~~9.12 — Membership, Chairmanship and Quorum~~

<del>Number of Members</del>	<del>Three members of the Standards Committee including in all cases an Independent Member and in the case of a complaint against a Town or Parish Councillor, at least one Town/Parish Representative</del>
<del>Substitute Members Permitted</del>	<del>No</del>
<del>Political Balance Rules apply</del>	<del>No</del>
<del>Appointments/Removals from Office</del>	<del>The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to appoint members on a per</del>

	<del>meeting basis.</del>
<del>Restrictions on Membership</del>	<del>Reserved to elected members of the Standards Committee</del>
<del>Restrictions on Chairmanship/Vice Chairmanship</del>	<del>Chairmanship is reserved to a co-opted Independent Member</del>
<del>Quorum</del>	<del>Three.</del>
<del>Number of ordinary meetings per Council Year</del>	<del>Meetings will be called as required</del>

**9.13 Terms of Reference**

~~1. To conduct a hearing in relation to a complaint referred to it by the Monitoring Officer alleging a failure by an elected or co-opted member of Thanet District Council or a Parish or Town Council established in Thanet to comply with the requirements of the Members Code of Conduct adopted by their Council.~~

~~2. At the conclusion of the hearing and taking into account the opinion of the Independent Person, to form an opinion on whether there has been a failure by the Member to comply with the requirements of the Members Code of Conduct of their Council and to communicate that opinion to the Monitoring Officer~~

~~3. In the event of the Sub Committee being of the opinion that there has been a failure by the Member to comply with the Members Code of Conduct adopted by their Council, to make recommendations to the Monitoring Officer on what action to take (if any) in respect of such failure~~

~~4. To give notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer of its recommendations including the reasons for such recommendations.~~

**9.14 Delegations**

~~All matters in the Terms of Reference are fully delegated.~~

**9.15 Notes**

~~1. An Independent Person shall be entitled to attend any hearing and make representations to the Sub Committee before it makes any recommendations as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Members Code of Conduct or in the event of such failure, what action to take in relation thereto.~~



## Article 10 – Area Committees and Forums

### 10.01 Area Committees

~~— The Council may appoint area Committees as it sees fit, if it is satisfied that to do so will ensure improved service delivery in the context of best value and more efficient, transparent and accountable decision making. The Council will consult with relevant parish and town Councils and the Chairmen of relevant parish meetings when considering whether and how to establish area Committees.~~

### 10.012 Conflicts of interest – membership of area Committees and Overview and Scrutiny Committees

- (a) **Conflict of interest.** If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is scrutinising specific decisions or proposals in relation to the business of any area Committee of which the Councillor concerned is a member, then the Councillor may not speak or vote at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting unless a dispensation to do so is given by the Standards Committee.
- (b) **General policy reviews.** Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is reviewing policy generally the member must declare his/her interest before the relevant agenda item is reached, but need not withdraw.

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent:  
Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 0.98 cm

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

### 10.023 Area Committees – access to information

~~Any~~ Area Committees will comply with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Agendas and notices for area Committee meetings which deal with both functions of the Cabinet and functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet will state clearly which items are which.

### 10.034 Cabinet members on area Committees

A member of the Cabinet [other than the council manager] may serve on an area Committee if otherwise eligible to do so as a Councillor.

#### References:

~~Part VA, Local Government Act 1972~~

~~Section 13, Local Government and Housing Act 1989~~

~~Reg. 4, 5 and 16A Local Government (Committee and Political Groups) Regulations 1990~~

~~Section 18, Local Government Act 2000~~

~~The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000~~

~~Chapter 6, DLTR Guidance~~

## Article 11 – Joint Arrangements

### 11.01 Arrangements to promote well being

The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of its area, may:

- (a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;
- (b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; and
- (c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body.

### 11.02 Joint arrangements

- (a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities and/or their Executives to exercise functions which are not Executive functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise the Council. (Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint Committee with these other local authorities).
- (b) The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to exercise functions which are Executive functions. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of joint Committees with these other local authorities.
- (c) Except as set out below, the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet members to a joint Committee and those members need not reflect the political composition of the local authority as a whole.
- (d) The Cabinet may appoint members to a joint Committee from outside the Cabinet in the following circumstances:
  - the joint Committee has functions for only part of the area of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of the authority by area or population. In such cases, the Cabinet Executive may appoint to the joint Committee any Councillor who is a member for a ward which is wholly or partly contained within the area;
  - the joint Committee is between a county Council and a single district Council and relates to functions of the Executive of the county Council. In such cases, the Executive of the county Council may appoint to the joint Committee any Councillor who is a member for an electoral division which is wholly or partly contained within the area.

In both of these cases the political balance requirements do not apply to such appointments.

- (e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint Committees will be found in the Council's scheme of delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution.

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent:  
Left: 2.54 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent:  
Left: 2.54 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent:  
Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm,  
Space After: 6 pt

### 11.03 Access to information

- (a) The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply.
- (b) If all the members of a joint Committee are members of the Executive in each of the participating authorities then its access to information regime is the same as that applied to the Cabinet~~executive~~.
- (c) If the joint ~~C~~committee contains members who are not on the ~~E~~executive of any participating authority then the access to information rules in Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 will apply.

### 11.04 Delegation to and from other local authorities

- (a) The Council may delegate non-~~E~~executive functions to another local authority or, in certain circumstances, the ~~E~~executive of another local authority.
- (b) The Cabinet may delegate ~~E~~executive functions to another local authority or the ~~Executive~~Cabinet of another local authority in certain circumstances.
- (c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting.

### 11.05 Contracting out

The Council (~~for functions which are not ~~E~~executive functions~~) and the Cabinet (~~for ~~E~~executive functions~~) may contract out to another body or organisation functions which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council's agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no delegation of the Council's discretionary decision making.

*References:*

*Sections 2, 19, 20 Local Government Act 2000*

*~~The Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2000~~*

*Chapter 6, DLTR Guidance*

## Article 12 – Officers

### 12.01 Management structure

- (a) **General.** The full Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its functions.
- (b) **Chief Officers.** The full Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be designated chief officers:

The full Council may delegate these functions to another body or officer.

Post	Functions and Areas of Responsibility
Chief Executive (and Head of Paid Service)	Overall corporate management and operational responsibility (including overall management responsibility for all officers).  Corporate Programming and Executive Support Unit.
Director – “Section 151 Officer”	Corporate Services .
Director	Community Services
Director	Operational Services

- (c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The Council will designate the following posts as shown:

Post	Designation
Chief Executive	Head of Paid Service
Legal Services Manager (Monitoring Officer)	Monitoring Officer
Director of Corporate Services	Chief Finance Officer

Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.02–12.04 below.

The roles of these posts are underpinned by the fundamental principles of political neutrality and service to the whole Council

- (d) **Structure.** The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the overall departmental structure of the Council showing the management structure and deployment of officers. This is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution.
- (e) **Accountability.** Within the fundamental principles of political neutrality and service to the whole Council, the Head of Paid Service shall report to the Leader of the Council concerning the efficient and effective implementation of the Council's policies. The Chief Finance Officer shall similarly report to the Head of Paid Service. They shall both ensure that other Cabinet Members are appropriately briefed regarding matters relevant to their individual portfolio areas.

### 12.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service

- (a) **Discharge of functions by the Council.** The Head of Paid Service will report to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council's functions is coordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of officers.
- (b) **Restrictions on functions.** The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

### 12.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer

- (a) **Maintaining the Constitution.** The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by members, staff and the public.
- (b) **Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making in accordance with the powers and duties contained in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.** After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an Executive function if he/she considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.  
  
Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered.
- (c) **Supporting the Standards Committee.** The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee.
- (d) ~~Receiving reports. The Monitoring Officer will receive and act on reports made by ethical standards officers and decisions of the case tribunals.~~
- (e) **Conducting investigations.** The Monitoring Officer will conduct [or commission](#) investigations into [complaints about the conduct of members matters referred by ethical standards officers](#) and make reports or recommendations in respect of them to the Standards Committee.
- (f) **Proper officer for access to information.** The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Cabinet decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible in accordance with this Constitution.
- (g) **Advising whether Cabinet decisions are within the budget and policy framework.** The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the budget and policy framework.
- (h) **Providing advice.** The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors.
- (i) **Restrictions on posts.** The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

### 12.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer (“Section 151 Officer”)

- (a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making in accordance with the powers and duties contained in the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government Finance Act 1988. After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an Executive function and the Council’s external auditor if he/she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.
- (b) **Administration of financial affairs.** The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council.
- (c) **Contributing to corporate management.** The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice.

- (d) **Providing advice.** The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors and any elected Mayor of the Council and will support and advise Councillors and officers in their respective roles.
- (e) **Give financial information.** The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the community.

**12.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer**

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed.

**12.06 Conduct**

Officers will comply with the Officers' Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

**12.07 Employment**

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer Employment Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

**Reference:**

*Chapter 8, DLTR Guidance*

[See further:-

On "Management Structure", see Part 7 (and Appendix of Property Officer Functions).]

## Article 13 – Decision Making

### 13.01 Responsibility for decision making

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

### 13.02 Principles of decision making

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:

- (a) the presumption in favour of openness and transparency;
- (b) the need for consultation with interested parties;
- (c) the need to take account of relevant professional advice from appropriate staff;
- (d) the need for clarity of aims and desired outcomes;
- (e) the need to identify the range of options considered.
- (f) the need to give reasons and explanation for a decision.

- ~~(a) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);~~
- ~~(b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;~~
- ~~(c) respect for human rights (see below for further details);~~
- ~~(d) a presumption in favour of openness; and~~
- ~~(e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes.~~

### 13.03 Types of decision

(a) Decisions reserved to full Council. Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.02 will be made by the full Council and not delegated.

(b) Key decisions.

~~(i) Councils should insert into this part of the Constitution the definition of key decisions contained in regulations. Sourced example from another council~~

~~(i) A key decision which must be included in the Forward Plan is an Executive decision which is likely:~~

~~(a) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (the Council has decided that any decision involving expenditure in excess of £250,000, excluding any decisions relating to investment of Council monies as part of Treasury Management procedures, will be a key decision); or~~  
~~(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more electoral wards in .....~~  
~~(~~

~~(ii) A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.~~

~~(i) A key decision means an executive decision which is likely –~~

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.54 cm + Indent at: 3.81 cm

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 2.54 cm

**Formatted:** Indent: Left: 3.81 cm

**Formatted:** Normal, Indent: Left: 3.81 cm, Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

**Formatted:** Indent: Left: 0 cm

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 2.54 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Hanging: 1.27 cm

- ~~(a) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or~~
- ~~(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area of the district comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the district.~~
- ~~(ii) In determining what is "significant" regard shall be had to any guidance for the time being issued by the Secretary of State.~~
- ~~(iii) In order to assist potential decision makers within the Council reach consistent and democratic objective judgements and to ensure the public are clear about what is regarded as significant locally, the Council has set the following thresholds:-~~

Type of Decision	Threshold	Key Decision?
<del>(a) Decisions involving expenditure within relevant budget approved by Council</del>	<del>None.</del>	<del>No, unless significant effect on communities.</del>

Type of Decision	Threshold	Key Decision?
<del>(b) Decisions involving expenditure in excess of relevant budget approved by Council.</del>	<del>Any excess which exceeds the FPR virement rules.</del>	<del>Yes, if above threshold. If at or below threshold a key decision if significant effect on communities.</del>
<del>(c) Decisions on cash flow, investments and borrowings.</del>	<del>None.</del>	<del>No, unless significant effect on communities.</del>
<del>(d) Decisions to make savings.</del>	<del>None.</del>	<del>No, unless significant effect on communities.</del>

- ~~(iv) In determining what should be regarded as likely to be "significant" in terms of the effects of executive decisions on communities living or working in an area of the district, the following factors are to be taken into account:-~~
  - ~~(a) decisions to propose any new policy or any change to an existing policy will be treated as a key decision;~~
  - ~~(b) decisions which impact on communities living or working in one ward or electoral division will be treated as a key decision if that impact is likely to be significant in terms of its effects;~~
  - ~~(c) in considering whether a decision is a key decision regard should be had, amongst other things, to the impact on amenity of a community and the quality of any service provided to a significant number of people; and~~



- ~~(d) decisions in respect of any emergency being dealt with under the Council's emergency plan arrangements will not be regarded as a key decision unless required to be so regarded by law.~~
- ~~(v) A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.~~

#### **13.04 Decision making by the full Council**

Subject to Article 13.08, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

#### **13.05 Decision making by the Executive Cabinet**

Subject to Article 13.08, the Executive Cabinet will follow the Executive Cabinet Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

#### **13.06 Decision making by Overview and Scrutiny Committees**

Overview and Scrutiny Committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

#### **13.07 Decision making by other Committees and Sub-Committees established by the Council**

Subject to Article 13.08, other Council Committees and Sub-Committees will follow those parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to them.

#### **13.08 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals**

The Council, a Councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

#### **References:**

Chapter 7, DLTR Guidance

Regulations made under section 22, Local Government Act 2000

## Article 14 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

### 14.01 Financial management

The management of the Council's financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the ~~Financial Procedure Rules~~ set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

### 14.02 Contracts

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

### 14.03 Legal proceedings

The Legal Services Manager is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions ~~by or on behalf~~ of the Council ~~or the Cabinet~~ or in any case where ~~either they~~ considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council's interests. Legal proceedings may also be taken by or on behalf of the Director of Customer Services and Business Transformation pertaining to revenues and/or benefit matters in accordance with the delegated powers contained in Part 3 of this Constitution.

### 14.04 Authentication of documents

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Legal Services Manager, ~~Monitoring Officer~~, or other person authorised by him/her, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given requisite authority to some other person.

~~Any contract with a value exceeding £x – councils should insert an amount here appropriate to local circumstances entered into on behalf of the local authority in the course of the discharge of an executive function shall be made in writing. Such contracts must either be signed by at least two officers of the authority or made under the common seal of the council attested by at least one officer.~~

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Italic, Highlight

### 14.05 Common Seal of the Council

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of ~~the Legal Services Manager, Monitoring Officer~~. A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Legal Services Officer, Monitoring Officer should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by a Member of the Council and one of the said officers or some other person authorised by him/her. An entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively numbered in a book to be provided for the purpose and shall be signed by a person who has attested the seal.

Formatted: Highlight

#### ~~References:~~

~~Sections 135, 151, 223 and 234, Local Government Act 1972  
Part VIII, Local Government Finance Act 1988~~

## Article 15 – Review and Revision of the Constitution

### 15.01 Duty to monitor and review the constitution

~~The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.~~

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt, Not Bold

#### ~~Protocol for monitoring and review of constitution by Monitoring Officer~~

~~A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make recommendations for ways in which it could be amended in order better to achieve the purposes set out in Article 1.~~

In undertaking this task the Monitoring Officer may:

- ~~1. observe meetings of different parts of the member and officer structure;~~
- ~~2. undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;~~
- ~~3. record and analyse issues raised with him/her by members, officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and~~
4. compare practices in this authority with those in other comparable authorities, or national examples of best practice.

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial

**Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 0 cm, Space Before: 12 pt, Line spacing: Multiple 1.3 li

### 15.02 Changes to the Constitution

- (a) **Approval.** Changes to the constitution will only be approved by the full Council after consideration of the proposal by Standards Committee ~~the Standards Committee, [to be determined]~~

**Formatted:** Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

~~PROVIDED THAT the Monitoring Officer may from time to time make and publish the following changes:-~~

- ~~(i) such changes to Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) as may be necessary to reflect any decision made by a person or body with the appropriate authority to delegate or sub-delegate powers to exercise executive or non-executive functions;~~
- ~~(ii) such changes as may be necessary to reflect any changes to the details included in the List of Cabinet Members (whether as a result of a decision of the Leader of the Council or otherwise);~~
- ~~(iii) such changes to Article 12 and/or Part 7 (Management Structure) as may be necessary to reflect any changes made by the Council, the Cabinet or otherwise, in the allocation of functions to officers;~~
- ~~(iv) such changes as may be necessary to reflect any changes made to the Council's Committee structure;~~

**Formatted:** Justified, Space After: 6 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm, Space After: 6 pt, No bullets or numbering

- ~~(v) such changes as may be necessary to reflect any changes agreed by Full Council to the Members' Allowances Scheme;~~
- ~~(vi) such changes as may be necessary to reflect any changes made to the Proper Officer Functions;~~
- ~~(vii) such changes as may be necessary to reflect or as may be necessary to comply with or give effect to any legislative changes or requirements; and~~
- ~~(viii) such other changes of an editorial or consequential nature as may seem appropriate to make the Constitution internally consistent, up to date and readily understandable."~~

~~In addition any other means of publishing changes under (i) to (viii) above, the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the changes are included on the next Standards Committee agenda for the Committee's information.~~

~~(b) The Monitoring Officer [in consultation with the Chief Executive and the group leaders] shall have the power to make minor amendments to the Constitution to correct errors or to comply with any legal requirement or to reflect changes in the Council's structure.~~

~~(b) **Change within a Mayoral form of Executive.** Unless the change relates only to the operation of Overview and Scrutiny Committees, any resolution of the full Council to approve a change will have no effect without the written consent of the Mayor.~~

(c) **Change from a Mayoral form of Executive to another form of Executive or to alternative arrangements, or from alternative arrangements to a Mayoral form of Executive.** The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals and must hold a binding referendum. The change will not take effect until the end of the Mayor's term of office.

(d) **Change from a Leadership and Cabinet form of Executive to alternative arrangements, or vice versa.** The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals.

**Formatted:** Normal, Justified, Indent:  
Left: 1.27 cm, Hanging: 1.27 cm,  
Space After: 6 pt

*References:*

~~Sections 30 and 37, Local Government Act 2000~~

~~Chapters 10 and 15, DLTR Guidance~~

## Article 16 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution

### 16.01 Suspension of the Constitution

- (a) **Limit to suspension.** The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The Rules specified below may be suspended to the extent permitted within those Rules and the law.
- (b) **Procedure to suspend.** A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without notice unless more than one half of the whole number of Councillors are present. The extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1.
- (c) **Rules capable of suspension.** The following Rules may be suspended in accordance with Article 16.01:
- Council Procedure Rules
  - Access to Information Procedure Rules
  - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
  - Cabinet Procedure Rules
  - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
  - Financial Procedure Rules
  - Contract Standing Orders
  - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 1.9 cm, Hanging: 0.63 cm, Tab stops: Not at 0.63 cm

### 16.02 Interpretation

The ruling of the Chairman of Council as to the construction or application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1.

### 16.03 Publication

- (a) The Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager will give a printed copy of this Constitution to each member of the authority upon delivery to him/her of that individual's declaration of acceptance of office on the member first being elected to the Council.
- (b) The Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager will ensure that copies are available for inspection at Council offices, libraries and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable fee.
- (c) The Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made widely available within the area and is updated as necessary.

## Schedule 1: Description of Executive Arrangements

The following parts of this Constitution constitute the Executive arrangements:

1. Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny Committees) and the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules;
2. Article 7 (The Cabinet) and the Cabinet Procedure Rules;
3. Article 10 (Area Committees and Forums) (where applicable);
4. Article 11 (Joint arrangements) (where applicable);
5. Article 13 (Decision making) and the Access to Information Procedure Rules;
6. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions).

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt